
 

 
Telephone Enquiries: Democratic Services, (01254) 380116/380109/380184 
Email:  memberservices@hyndburnbc.gov.uk 
Published on Tuesday, 6 September 2022 

Page 1 of 3  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Cabinet 
 
Wednesday, 14th September 2022 at 3.00 pm 
QER, Scaitcliffe House, Ormerod Street, Accrington 
 
Membership 
 
Chair: Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE (in the Chair) 
 
Councillors Marlene Haworth, Peter Britcliffe, Kath Pratt, Steven Smithson and Joyce Plummer 
 

 

A G E N D A 
 
 

PART A: PROCEDURAL AND INFORMATION ITEMS 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence   
 
 

2.   Declarations of Interest and Dispensations   
 
 

3.   Minutes of Cabinet  (Pages 5 - 14) 
 
To approve the Minutes of the last meeting of Cabinet held on 13th July 2022. 
 

4.   Urgent Decisions Taken  (Pages 15 - 24) 
 
In accordance with Executive Procedure Rule B16(c) to receive a report on decisions 
taken under urgency procedures.  The following decisions are attached:- 
 

No Decision Heading Portfolio Holder Date of Approval 

 

Public Document Pack



 

Page 2 of 3 

 

(a) Household Support Funding         Cllr K. Pratt 27th July 2022 

(b) Huncoat Garden Village Cllr L. Cox 21st March 2022 
 

5.   Minutes of Boards, Panel and Working Groups  (Pages 25 - 34) 
 
To receive the minutes of the meetings of the following bodies:-  
 

Name of Body Date of Meeting 

Local Plan Member Working Group 2nd February, 2022 

Leader’s Policy Development Board 28th March 2022 

Regeneration and Housing Panel 11th April, 2022 

 
 
 

PART B: PORTFOLIO ITEMS 
 

6.   Reports of Cabinet Members   
 
To receive verbal reports from each of the Portfolio Holders, as appropriate. 
 

Leader of the Council (Councillor Miles Parkinson) 
 

7.   Leisure Transformation Project: Consultant Appointment  (Pages 35 - 38) 
 
Report attached. 
 

8.   Hargreaves Warehouse - Fire and Partial Demolition  (Pages 39 - 54) 
 
Report attached. 
 

Portfolio Holder for Environmental Services (Councillor Steven Smithson) 
 

9.   Subsidised Pest Control Treatments  (Pages 55 - 64) 
 
Report attached. 
 

10.   Creation of Net Zero Working Group  (Pages 65 - 68) 
 
Report attached. 
 

Portfolio Holder for Resources (Councillor Joyce Plummer) 
 

11.   Elections Act 2022: Update  (Pages 69 - 74) 
 
Report attached. 
 

PART C: EXEMPT ITEMS 



 

Page 3 of 3 

 

 
NIL 

 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
1 

 
CABINET 

 

 
Wednesday, 13th July, 2022 

 
Present:  Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE (in the Chair), Councillors Peter Britcliffe, 

Marlene Haworth, Joyce Plummer, Kath Pratt and Steven Smithson 
 

In Attendance: Councillors Munsif Dad BEM JP, Melissa Fisher and June Harrison 

  

 
58 Apologies for Absence 

 
There were no apologies for absence on this occasion. 
 

59 Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 
 
There were no reported declarations of interest or dispensations. 
 

60 Minutes of Cabinet 
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 22nd June 2022 were submitted for 
approval as a correct record. 
 
In connection with Minute 28 - Leisure Estate Investment Programme, Councillor Miles 
Parkinson OBE, Leader of the Council, commented that updates had previously been 
submitted to the Council.  The Leisure Trust was continuing to develop its proposals around 
the Borough’s leisure facilities.  Members were reminded that the Leader of the Labour 
Group had been a party to discussions on Leisure Transformation from 2019 onwards as a 
member of the Trust Board. 
 
The Leader had recently attended an event to mark to the opening of the new community 
centre in the former Clayton Civic Hall.  The Leisure Transformation Programme would roll 
out this model across the Borough, with similar community facilities planned in West End, 
Oswaldtwistle and at Bank Mill House, Great Harwood. 
 
Comments had appeared recently on social media about the future of Mercer Hall.  
Members were reminded that this proposal was being led by the Leisure Trust.  The Chair 
of the Trust was a Great Harwood resident, former Labour councillor and former Lancashire 
County Councillor.  This organisation would ultimately give its views as to the Trust’s 
preferred option.  It was acknowledged that residents and the Conservative Group had 
proposed alternative options and that all options would be subject to appraisal and come 
before the Council for a decision.  At that time Councillor Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder 
for Resources, would take a view on the financial aspects of any proposals.  One Councillor 
had even proposed a new Olympic-sized swimming pool and had cited his enjoyable 
experiences at the, now demolished, Waves centre in Blackburn.  This served as a 
cautionary reminder of the need for a strong business case for any proposed swimming 
pool development. 
 
Regarding Minute 30 – Draft Financial Outturn Position 2021/22, the Leader noted the 
anticipated underspend for the year and thanked Councillor Plummer for her excellent work. 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 5

Agenda Item 3.



 
 
 

 

 
2 

In respect of Minute 29 – Taxi and Private Hire (Disabled Persons Act) 2022, Councillor 
Munsif Dad BEM JP asked if information had now been obtained in respect of the question 
raised about the number of designated wheelchair access vehicles licensed in the Borough.  
Councillor Plummer commented that she did not have the details to hand, but would look 
into the matter. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and approved as a 

correct record. 
 

61 Reports of Cabinet Members 
 
The Leader reported on the following matters: 
 

 Work was on-going on the Lancashire devolution deal.  Hyndburn did not wish to be 

absorbed into a unitary authority led by Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council, 

which could undermine this Council’s excellent financial position.  Potentially, 

residents could benefit from a 0% rise next year in the Borough’s portion of the 

Council Tax.  However, it was understood that some members of Hyndburn 

Council’s Labour Group and the Constituency Labour Party (CLP) wanted a unitary 

authority. 

 Work was underway to consult residents and Friends of Parks groups about events 

in the townships, such as live music events.  The Council wanted to see a vibrant 

and active community. 

 The controlling administration was looking at supporting the Christmas lights switch 

on events for 2022 in the townships.  Work was underway to reach out to 

community groups in staging their events and a fund would be made available to 

support bids. 

 
62 Appointments to Cabinet Committees and Cabinet Groups 2022/23 

 
Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE, Leader of the Council, provided a report seeking approval 
to the outstanding appointments of Members to Cabinet Committees and Cabinet Groups 
for the 2022/23 Municipal Year. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
Members were reminded that, at its meeting on 22nd June 2022, the Cabinet had approved 
the continuation of various Committees and standing Working Groups for the Municipal 
Year 2022/23, along with their terms of reference.  Cabinet had also approved the 
appointment of those councillors who had been nominated by the relevant political groups 
or proposed as Independent Members to serve on those bodies.  However, at that time 
there were a number of seats for which no nomination had been received. 
 
Following further consultation with the Leader of the Council and the relevant political 
groups, the following additional nominations had been received, which would ensure that all 
of the outstanding vacancies were filled: 
 
 

Committees 

Cabinet Committee (Street 
Naming) 

Councillor Bernard Dawson - Labour (attending as 
observer) 

Page 6



 
 
 

 

 
3 

Working Groups 

Covenant Commemoration 
Working Group 

Councillor Kimberley Whitehead - Labour 

Cabinet Public Transport 
Group 

Councillor Noordad Aziz - Labour 

Cabinet Waste and Recycling 
Group 

Councillor Caroline Montague – Independent 

 
 
There were no alternative options considered 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet agrees to the appointment of those 

Members to the Cabinet Committees and Cabinet 
Groups for the 2022/23 Municipal Year, as set out in 
Paragraph 3.2 of the report. 

 
63 Levelling Up Funding Bid - Update 

 
Members considered a report of Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE, Leader of the Council, 
which provided an update on the Council’s Levelling Up Funding, (LUF) submission and the 
work on producing a preferred procurement strategy and framework. 
 
Councillor Parkinson highlighted key elements of the report.  The Council was currently 
waiting for the Government portal to open to enable the submissions to be made.  The LUF 
was a bid for funding, whereas the UK Shared Prosperity Fund was a direct allocation.  The 
Council’s Town Centre Investment Plan was a 10-15 year strategy which contained 18 
principal schemes.  The Levelling Up bid would focus investment on three main projects: 
the Market Hall, Market Chambers and Burtons Chambers.  Consultants, CBRE, had been 
engaged to try to purchase the various property interests by agreement in Burtons 
Chambers and Market Chambers.   The Council was also considering the use of a third 
party operator for both the Market Hall and Burtons Chambers once redeveloped. 
 
A revised Town Centre Stakeholder Group had been established to engage with key 
partners and a smaller Town Centre Partnership Board, chaired by David Sanderson, the 
Deputy Lord Lieutenant and CEO of the Rank Foundation charitable trust had been created 
to lead the programme. 
 
Councillor Munsif Dad BEM JP asked when the portal would be open and whether there 
were any contingencies if there was a delay.  The Leader responded that the Council would 
be notified when the portal was available and the bid would be submitted as soon as 
possible. 
 
Councillor Britcliffe commented that the report was exciting news.  The Government had set 
store by Levelling Up.  The local MP had asked if there was likely to be any threat to 
Levelling Up due to the Conservative Party’s leadership change, and assurances had been 
received from those asked that the new Prime Minister would be committed to it.  The 
Leader indicated that a recent comment by an Opposition councillor that Accrington would 
receive all of the planned funding was not accurate.  Councillors Parkinson and Britcliffe 
confirmed that extra investment in Accrington Town Centre would enable other monies to 
be released to be spread across the townships in the Borough.  For example, a significant 
amount had already been spent on the development at Spring Street, Rishton.  The Leader 
also noted that some unfair criticism had been levelled in the past at a different housing 
developer by a senior councillor.  Councillor Plummer added that a close family member 
had recently purchased a home from this developer and were very happy with the standard 
of construction.  Councillor Dad confirmed that the same firm had listened closely to 

Page 7



 
 
 

 

 
4 

residents during a previous development in his ward.  However, he accepted that 
individuals might have their own personal views. 
 
Councillor Fisher welcomed the news about investment into Burtons Chambers, which she 
had proposed a number of years ago.  She asked about the long term vision for this 
building.  The Leader responded that it was proposed to use this building as shared office 
work spaces.  The offer would be based around daily or weekly rental, which was a suitably 
different offer from the Globe Enterprises model.  A third party operator had already shown 
an interest in the proposal.  The Market Hall would be split between traditional traders and 
an events/eatery space, which should attract more visitors over time.  A masterplan would 
be developed for the Arndale.  Engagement was on-going with Historic England following a 
visit last week about the heritage assets within the town.  Bricks and mortar could easily be 
repaired, but a cultural offer was also required so that there was always something going 
on. 
 
Councillor Marlene Haworth, Deputy Leader of the Council, reiterated that the news was 
very exciting.  By working together, local pride could be restored and Hyndburn could move 
forward.  Councillor Dad welcomed what was proposed and acknowledged that investment 
had already occurred across Hyndburn. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
Cabinet had given its formal approval in support of the Stakeholder Board’s 
recommendations that the Council’s LUF submission should focus around the following 
three principal interventions;  
 
1. Redevelopment to an area within the Indoor Market Hall and outdoor pavilions along 

Peel Street – the intervention known as Market Hall.  
2. Improvements and redevelopment to the properties of 43-59 Blackburn Road / 2-4 

Church Street – the intervention known as Market Chambers.  
3. Improvements and redevelopment to the block 61-69 Blackburn Road – the 

intervention known as Burtons Chambers.  
 
Interventions 2 and 3 were not in the Council’s ownership and so Cabinet had supported 
the appointment of CBRE, who were a nationally recognised property services consultant, 
to undertake acquisition discussions on behalf of the Council.  Following the initial work 
around developing a Council acquisition strategy, CBRE had been in regular discussions 
with the owners of these key LUF buildings over the past six months.  Discussions had 
progressed sufficiently to allow draft heads of terms to be issued and Cabinet was being 
asked to note this work and support the continued engagement of CBRE until February 
2023, through a monthly retainer.  This would allow further progress with the acquisition of 
the key intervention buildings Burtons Chambers and Market Chambers and reduce the risk 
of delays if the Council waited for the announcement of the LUF bid.  The additional value 
of this extension, together with the expenditure to date was not likely to exceed the EU 
threshold.  
 
CBRE had submitted heads of terms to the owners of the various interests in Burtons 
Chambers and Market Chambers with a view to enabling the Council to acquire these by 
agreement if possible so as to avoid the delays and uncertainties that would be involved in 
compulsory acquisition.  It was anticipated that any purchase agreements or option 
agreements entered into prior to the outcome of the LUF bid would be conditional upon that 
bid being successful, although the Council would incur some legal and professional costs 
relating to the preparation of the conditional sale / option agreements.  To avoid project 

Page 8



 
 
 

 

 
5 

delays, it was not proposed that vacant possession was required as a condition of 
acquisition.  The Council could therefore acquire the various freehold interests in one or 
both of these properties subject to existing tenancies remaining, but this did create an 
element of risk if the Council could not obtain vacant possession of the buildings by 
agreement when needed to commence redevelopment works, meaning compulsory 
acquisition might still be required.  
 
A Procurement Strategy had been commissioned by MAC Construction Consultants and 
followed a standardised approach to help determine the appropriate procurement route for 
major redevelopment projects.  A well-developed strategy recognised that each project or 
programme would have a different set of objectives and priorities which would help drive 
the choice of the route taken and that there was not a “one size fits all solution”.  This 
approach ensured that the objectives and priorities determined the overall decision by 
putting these at the centre of the consideration of the options that faced the Council.  
 
Following the production of the Procurement Strategy, the report concluded the preferred 
procurement route for a Council managed procurement was a Contractor led two stage, 
design and build for Burtons Chambers and the Market Hall, as it met or exceeded all of the 
Council’s procurement drivers.  This approach allowed the Council and its preferred 
partner/operator to examine a variety of innovative new developments during the design 
stage and assess their capacity to add to the overall outcomes of the programme or help 
manage the overall cost of the programme, without the need to make major financial 
commitments before full assessments or face major additional programme costs from 
redesign or delay.  At this stage, the report assumed it was a Council led procurement 
process, however this might not be the case, as the Council was currently procuring 
developer partners for both buildings.  
 
As highlighted previously, the Council had commenced work to identify a preferred 
partner/operator for the Market Hall and Burtons Chambers by the time the Council should 
hear if the bid was successful or not.  Depending on the agreement structure between the 
Council and partner/operator, it was quite possible that a bidder might wish to procure their 
own contractors and professional team as well as becoming the partner/operator once 
redeveloped and this option had been allowed for when publishing the Council’s Prior 
Information Notice.  Where a potential partner/operator wished to lead and take 
responsibility for the construction works, further information around their procurement 
strategy including any frameworks for contractor and professional services would be sought 
as part of the Council’s evaluation process.  
 
For a Council led procurement process, the report concluded the preferred Framework was 
the Scape Framework for Contractor selection and the NHS Shared Business Services was 
used for consultant selection to assist the Council in the delivery of the programme of works 
to Burtons Chambers and the Market Hall.  This framework was recommended as it 
ensured the Council: complied with the requirements around public tendering under the 
Public Contract Regulations 2015, (the UK legislation that replaced the OJEC process), 
secured the services of an experienced main contractor to progress the projects through 
the remaining design phases, ensured that the Council could meet the requirements of the 
Levelling Up Fund criteria and provided as much certainty as possible in areas such as 
buildability, construction cost management, timescale, risk management and professional 
liabilities.  This procurement route also aided the Council by appointing a main contractor 
and project management team who either had the relevant technical knowledge to fill all 
aspects of the work required or who had suitable arrangements in place to secure 
appropriate subcontractors with the professional and technical knowledge in construction 
industry and had the existing working relationships.  
 

Page 9



 
 
 

 

 
6 

To improve the accuracy of the project cost estimates and reduce potential project delays, 
some work had been completed before any announcements had been made, although this 
was at the risk of wasted time and costs if the Council’s bid was not successful. 
 

 Building Condition Surveys to Burtons Chambers and Market Chambers to achieve 

minimum bid requirement of RIBA Stage 2 - £7,200  

 Measured Survey to Burtons Chambers to achieve minimum bid requirement of 

RIBA Stage 2 - £18,500  

 Development of two Business Plans and Procurement Strategy following changes in 

Round 2 bid criteria - £7,500  

 Further costing work to ensure projects fit within the LUF bid envelope - £2,500  

 External legal advice around Subsidy Control / State Aid - £2,000  

 Continued engagement of CBRE to further progress acquisition discussions – at 

£3,500 per month  

 
A revitalised Town Centre Stakeholder Group had been in operation since May 2020, with a 
specific aim to improve the Council’s partnerships and communications with key partners, 
business leaders and community groups.  A smaller subset of the Stakeholder Group – The 
Town Centre Partnership Board – had been created to expedite decision making and 
provide more regular oversight of the LUF and more recently, UKSPF bid developments. 
This board, independently chaired by David Sanderson, the Deputy Lord Lieutenant and 
CEO of the Rank Foundation charitable trust, helped refine the designs for the LUF 
schemes and brought forward recommendations for the UKSPF investment plans.  
 
Following the conclusion in developing the Town Centre Investment Plan, (TCIP) and the 
two funding bids, (LUF and UKSPF) the Council was now considering moving towards 
project implementation and delivery stage.  To this effect, discussions would shortly 
commence with the current Stakeholder Board and wider Stakeholder Group, to understand 
individual stakeholder’s continued working commitments / arrangements, future remit/s, 
membership / composition and potential discussion around renaming to reflect this next 
phase and/or the wider Levelling Up agenda.  
 
There would also be the need to create an internal officer project group and also to 
commence the procurement and selection of temporary internal officer support to service 
areas, such as Legal and Financial Services.  Any contractual agreements would be 
conditional on the Council’s LUF bid being successful. 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
Cabinet could choose not to support the continued work by CBRE but this was not 
recommended as the LUF timescales were extremely tight and continuing the ongoing 
discussions with property owners to a stage where all parties had sale agreements ready, 
pending acknowledgement of the Council’s bid, would help reduce any potential delays 
around acquisition.  
 
Cabinet could choose not to support the preferred procurement route and framework 
options, if for example a preferred partner/operator wished to lead on their own 
procurement route.  However, whether there was a Council led procurement or preferred 
partner/operator led procurement, the final recommendation, once funding had been 
secured, would need to meet the overall objectives of the programme and secure the best 
value to the Council and external funders. 
 
Resolved (1) That Cabinet supports and approves the continued 

engagement of the Council’s externally appointed 

Page 10



 
 
 

 

 
7 

property services consultant CBRE, to ensure the 
best possibly chance for sale by agreement, as set 
out in paragraph 3.2 of the report.  

 
(2) That Cabinet delegates authority to the Executive 

Director (Environment), following consultation with 
the Executive Director (Legal & Democratic 
Services) to enter into any conditional sale 
agreements or option sale agreements for Burtons 
Chambers and/or Market Chambers prior to the 
outcome of the Council’s LUF bid announcement, as 
set out in paragraphs 3.2 and 3.3 of the report .  

 
(3) That Cabinet notes the Procurement Strategy 

produced by MAC Construction Consultants 
(appended to the report) and supports in principal 
the preferred procurement route and preferred 
framework, as set out in paragraphs 3.4 to 3.7 of the 
report.  

 
(4) That Cabinet notes the additional work and the 

associated costs involved with submitting the 
Council’s Levelling Up Fund bid, as set out in 
paragraph 3.8 of the report.  

 
(5) That Cabinet notes and places on record its 

gratitude for all the work undertaken by the Chair, 
David Sanderson, stakeholder board members and 
wider stakeholders in assisting with the 
development of the Accrington Town Centre 
Investment Plan, the Council’s Levelling Up Funding 
submission and the Council’s UK Shared Prosperity 
Funding submission. 

 
64 Overview and Scrutiny Work Programmes 

 
The Cabinet considered a report of Cllr Patrick McGinley, Chair of the Resources Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee; Cllr Loraine Cox, Chair of the Communities and Wellbeing 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee; and Cllr Josh Allen, Chair of the Special Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, which was presented by the Leader of the Council. 
 
Councillor Munsif Dad, BEM JP, commented that there were numerous topics which would 
benefit from the involvement of overview and scrutiny and that the Labour Group looked 
forward to participating fully in that process.  The Leader of the Council noted that the 
proposed work programmes were substantial. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
At the beginning of each municipal year, the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
each agreed a work programme for the year.  The process for agreeing the work 
programme was set out in Overview and Scrutiny procedure rule C6(a) as follows: 
 

Page 11



 
 
 

 

 
8 

“The chair and vice chair of each overview and scrutiny committee will meet with the 
Cabinet within four weeks of each Annual Meeting to discuss the Cabinet’s policy priorities 
for the coming year. The chairs and vice chairs will propose a draft work programme for 
their committee within two weeks of that meeting. The draft work programmes will be 
submitted to the next following meeting of the Cabinet for comment and the draft work 
programme for each overview and scrutiny committee will then be submitted to the next 
following meeting of that committee (together with any comments or recommendations from 
the Cabinet) for approval.” 
 
A draft work programme for each of the Committees had been compiled.  These were now 
being provided to the Cabinet for comment, then would be returned to the Scrutiny 
Committees along with any comments received.  The Scrutiny Committees would then 
approve a full programme. 
 
The work programmes have been developed following consideration of the Council’s guide 
for selecting items for scrutiny and consultation including: 
 

 Multiple emails to all Councillors; 

 Suggestions sought from all service managers; 

 Social media coverage for public suggestions; and 

 Informal discussions with the Cabinet. 

 
Thirty requests for items to be considered for Scrutiny had been submitted by Service 
Heads, Councillors (Including Cabinet Members), Co-optees and members of the public.  
There had been several requests of a similar nature so in some cases, requested items had 
been merged.  These items had been discussed in depth between the Scrutiny Chairs and 
Cabinet Members before producing the work programmes. 
 
In addition, 3 items had been included as standing or statutory items (Budget, Crime and 
Disorder, and Hyndburn Leisure Annual Review). 
 
It was acknowledged that, for the Special Overview and Scrutiny Committee, with a remit to 
consider Levelling Up, County Deals and Accrington Town Centre, the Work Programme 
should take a more flexible approach allowing for items to be scrutinised at the most 
appropriate times. 
 
Not all suggested items had been deemed suitable for Scrutiny, in which case these 
suggestions had not been included in the programme.  
 
Members and Officers had sought to provisionally allocate items to specific meetings.  
However, these might be subject to change during the year.  As in previous years, 
additional items could be added to the work programmes as the year progressed, following 
scrutiny procedure rules. 
 
The three Overview and Scrutiny Work Programmes were set out in detail in the report, 
however, a summary of the main topics identified is provided below: 
 
Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

 Hyndburn Leisure Annual Update; 

 Council Tax Energy Rebate Scheme; 

 Performance Review; 

 Accrington Stanley Community Trust Capital Funding Grant; 

 Leisure Transformation; 

Page 12



 
 
 

 

 
9 

 Prudential Indicators and Treasury Management; 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy; 

 General Fund Revenue Budget; 

 Capital Programme; 

 Transparency; 

 Mayoralty; 

 Smart Working Policy; and 

 Land and building assets update. 

 
Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

 Allotments; 

 Pest Control; 

 Mental Health Update; 

 Household Support Fund; 

 Fly Tipping; 

 Sports Pitches, Grass Cutting and Planting Programmes; 

 Play Areas; and 

 Crime and Disorder. 

 
Special Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

 Levelling Up Bid; 

 UK Shared Prosperity Fund Plan; and 

 Devolution and County Deal. 

 
There were no alternative options considered 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet endorses, without comment, the Draft 

Work Programmes for the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees for 2022/23, which will be considered 
further by the Committees before final approval. 

 
65 Exclusion of the Public 

 
Resolved - That, in accordance with Regulation 4(2)(b) of the 

Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012, the public be excluded from the 
meeting during the following item, when it was 
likely, in view of the nature of the proceedings that 
there would otherwise be disclosure of exempt 
information within the Paragraph at Schedule 12A of 
the Act specified at the item. 

 
66 Urgent Decisions Taken 

 
Exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A, Paragraph 3 – 
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including 
the authority holding that information 
 
In accordance with Executive Procedure Rule B16(c), Members considered a report on the 
following decision taken under the urgency procedure: 

Page 13



 
 
 

 

 
10 

 

No. Decision Heading Portfolio Holder Date of Approval 

(a) Land at Nook Lane, Oswaldtwistle Councillor Miles 
Parkinson OBE 

29th June 2022 

 
 
Resolved - To note the report on urgent decisions taken. 
 

 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 14



1 of 2 

HYNDBURN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

APPROVAL FOR URGENT EXECUTIVE (CABINET) DECISION 
 

(Executive Procedure Rule B16) 
_______________________________________________________________________ 

 

Summary and Approvals 
  

1. Title of Report Waiver of Council Contract Procedure Rules Household Support 

Fund 
 

2. Report Author Joe McIntyre, Deputy Chief Executive 
 

3. Purpose of Report 
 
The Council has received a second round of Household Support Funding from the 
Government via LCC.  This funding is designed to provide key assistance to those that may 
continue to suffer financial difficulties in the wake of the pandemic. 
 
The Grant is for £360,000 and has to be spent by the 30

th
 September 2022.  Any funds not 

spent by that date must be returned to the Government. 
 
Hyndburn Leisure successfully managed the first round of Household Support Fund earlier 
in the year. 
 
As there is not sufficient time to tender the work required to administer the second round of 
funding, it is proposed to engage Hyndburn Leisure to undertake this work again.  Hyndburn 
Leisure have successfully managed a number of grant schemes on behalf of the Council 
through the COVID period.  They have indicated that as they have done previously they will 
sign up to meeting all the necessary grant award conditions and providing the relevant 
information required. 
 
As the Council would not be tendering this work but awarding it directly to Hyndburn Leisure, 
there is a need to waive the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules to allow this to happen.  
The cost of this work is £36,000 and will be met from the Government Grant.  This is in line 
with the Grant conditions. 
 
This is necessary due to the deadline to spend this money by the 30

th
 September 2022 

which precludes a tendering exercise taking place. 
 
If the Contract Procedure Rules are not waived then an award to Hyndburn Leisure cannot 
be made and the grants will not be distributed to the local community 

 

4. Decision requested 
 
Cabinet agrees to waiver of Part G Contracts Procedure Rules and grants delegated 
authority to the Deputy Chief Executive to agree detailed terms and appoints Hyndburn 
Leisure to administer the fund on the Councils behalf. 

 

5. Reason for Urgency 
 
To ensure the Council has in place someone to administer the Household Support Fund and 
meet the deadline for expenditure of this money by the 30

th
 September 2022. 

 
 
 
 
 Page 15

Agenda Item 4.



2 of 2 

6. Approvals of Members and Officers 

 

Designation Signature to give Approval 

Elected Members  
 

Leader of the Council Approved by telephone (27/07/22) 

 

Deputy Leader of the Council Approved by telephone (27/07/22) 

 

Portfolio Holder - Cllr K Pratt Approved by telephone (27/07/22) 

 

Mayor (to agree to exempt from call-in) 

 

Approved by telephone (27/07/22) 

 

Officers 

 

 

Chief Executive  

 

Not available 

Deputy Chief Executive (only in the 
absence of the Chief Executive or if the 
Chief Executive is the decision taker) 

 

Decision Taker 

Monitoring Officer (only in the absence of 
the Chief Executive and Deputy Chief 
Executive or if one is absent and the 
other is the decision taker) 
 
Peter Bullock (Deputy Monitoring Officer 

 

Approved by telephone (27/07/22) 

 

Chief Officer/Head of Service 

Joe McIntyre, Deputy Chief Executive 

 

Verbal Approval provided (27/07/22) 

 
 

7. Date of Decision (when finally approved): 27
th

 July 2022 

Page 16



 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 14 September 2022 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Miles Parkinson, Leader 

REPORT AUTHOR: Joe McIntyre 

Deputy Chief Executive 

TITLE OF REPORT: Household Support Fund Round 2 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 

1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1. The report informs Cabinet of the receipt of a second round of funding from 

Lancashire County Council to support the local community recover from the impact 
of COVID 19 and seeks to waive the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules and 
appoint Hyndburn Leisure to administer the fund on the Council’s behalf 

2. Recommendations  
 
2.1. Cabinet welcomes the award of additional Household Support Funding. 
2.2. Cabinet agrees to waiver of Part G Contracts Procedure Rules and grants 

delegated authority to the Deputy Chief Executive to agree detailed terms and 
appoints Hyndburn Leisure to administer the fund on the Councils behalf. 

. 

3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 

Detail 
 

 
 

3.1. The Government funding via Lancashire County Council to the Council is an 
additional £360,000 as part of a second round of Household Support Funding.  In 
the initial round of funding Hyndburn received £240,000 of grant. 

3.2. The grant is to assist the local community recover from the impact of COVID 19. 
3.3. The funds will be awarded in line with the grant directions from LCC and the 

Government and is aimed at helping those most likely to be in need in the wake of 
the pandemic.  Pensioners on Council Tax Support, low income households and 

Page 17



those using food banks and those struggling to pay energy and water bills will be 
the key targets for this assistance. 

3.4. The grant requirements are that this money is spent by the 30th September 2022 
with any funds not used by that date to be returned to LCC. 

3.5. Hyndburn Leisure successfully administered the first round of the Household 
Support Fund on behalf of the Council. 

3.6. The tight deadline of the 30th September 2022 for the expenditure of these funds 
does not allow the Council to tender a contract for the administration of these 
grants. 

3.7. Hyndburn Leisure have indicated that they will undertake the work if required at a 
cost of £36,000 and that the contract is in place in the week commencing 25th July 
2022 to allow them sufficient time to mobilise to deliver the grants in an 
appropriate way by the deadline. 

3.8. As there is not sufficient time to tender for this work, it is requested that the 
Cabinet agrees to suspend Part G Contract Procedure Rules of the Constitution so 
that a legal agreement between Hyndburn Leisure and Hyndburn Council can be 
made to ensure these grant payments can be made.  

3.9. Hyndburn Leisure have agreed to fulfil all the requirements of the grant and 
provide all the required management information in relation to payments made as 
requested by LCC. 

 

4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 

4.1. Not applicable.  This report is for information purposes. 

5. Consultations 
 
5.1. Not applicable  

6.  Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

There are no direct financial implications for 
the Council.  The administration fee for the 
work done is included within the Grant 
award. 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

The Council usually follows a tender 
process for the award of all its contracts.  
However due to the urgency around 
providing these grants the report asks that 
those procedures are suspended.  The 
value of the works would not breach any 
national guidance around requirements to 
formally tender for the work. 

Assessment of risk 
 

The major risk the Council faces is the 
failure to disperse this grant money in the 
allocated time and the adverse impact this 
would have on the local community who 
need this financial help. 

Page 18



Equality and diversity 
implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

Not applicable—the report deals with the 
award of a contract and not policy 
decisions. 

7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: List of Background 
Papers  

 
 

None

Page 19

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


 
 
 
 

P
age 20



1 of 3 

HYNDBURN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

APPROVAL FOR URGENT EXECUTIVE (CABINET) DECISION 
 

(Executive Procedure Rule B16) 
_______________________________________________________________________ 
 

Summary and Approvals 
  
1. Title of Report 
 

Huncoat Garden Village:  Landowner Engagement and Collaboration 
 
2. Report Author 
 

Mark Hoyle, Head of Regeneration and Housing 
 
3. Purpose of Report 
 

To seek approval to waive the Council’s Contracts Procedure Rules to appoint Avison Young 
to undertake a landowner engagement and collaboration commission to support the 
Council’s bid to Homes England’s Brownfield and Land Fund for remediation and 
infrastructure costs to support the delivery of Huncoat Garden Village. 

  
Avison Young has been jointly appointed by the Council and Homes England to prepare the 
business case for the Council’s Brownfield and Land Fund submission.  They were also sub-
contracted by Arcadis in preparing the Huncoat Garden Village Masterplan and therefore 
have a very good understanding of the Masterplan proposals, especially the delivery plan.  
 
The business case currently being prepared by Avison Young seeks funding for a new relief 
road, possible improvements to Junction 8 on the M65 and site abnormal costs (the works).  
The implementation of the works will require a collaboration with and between third party 
landowners.  In order to provide more certainty to the business case and funding application, 
and to enable delivery of the Masterplan, it is necessary to progress, with some urgency, 
with third party landowner negotiations and establish suitable collaboration arrangements.  A 
suitable qualified team is therefore required to progress this specific work stream.   
 
The specific scope of the commission involves making contact with land owners to 
understand their willingness to co-operate and collaborate on the delivery of the Huncoat 
Masterplan.  The main anticipated deliverables of the commission are: 
 

 Desktop land referencing across the Masterplan area to identify all known land owners to 
be captured within the process 

 Contact and engage with landowners to explore and  facilitate collaboration 
arrangements whereby the landowners act together on agreed principles to help deliver 
the Huncoat Masterplan including planning strategy, establish a fair apportionment of 
development costs, and agreed principles on land values. 

 Subject to the above, progress and help negotiate the terms of the Memorandum of 
Understanding between the landowners.   

 
Avison Young have been appointed by Homes England via its Technical and Professional 
Framework and have submitted a fee proposal of £10,380 plus VAT to carry out the 
Landowner Engagement and Collaboration commission, which are at the same rate as the 
rates already procured by Homes England.  This price therefore reflects good value for 
money, and due to their knowledge of the project Cabinet are invited to consider the Avison 
Young proposal and waive standing orders so that Avison Young can be appointed to 
undertake this specific work stream. 
 
The cost of this appointment will be met from funds set aside by the Council for Huncoat 
work. Page 21



2 of 3 

 
4. Decision requested 
 

Cabinet are invited to: 
 
Agree to waive the Council’s Contracts Procedure Rules for the reasons set out in “3” above 
and to grant delegated authority to the Head of Regeneration and Housing in consultation 
with the Executive Director (Legal and Democratic Services) to agree and finalise terms of 
engagement with Avison Young in respect of the Huncoat Garden Village Landowner 
Engagement and Collaboration project.   

 
5. Reason for Urgency 
 

Work on preparing the Brownfield and Land Infrastructure submission is underway and 
needs to be concluded before the end of April 2022 and therefore steps to make an 
appointment need to be accelerated in order to award a contract without any delay. The 
urgency is such that it is not practical to run a conventional recruitment process for this work. 

 
6. Approvals of Members and Officers 
 

Designation Signature to give Approval 

Elected Members  
 

Leader of the Council, Cllr Miles 
Parkinson 

Approved by email 

 

Deputy Leader of the Council, Cllr Paul 
Cox 

Approved by email 

 

Portfolio Holder,  Cllr Loraine Cox Approved by email 

 

Mayor (to agree to exempt from call-in) 

Cllr Kath Pratt 

 

Agreed by email 

 

Officers 
 

 

Chief Executive, Mr. David Welsby 

 

Approved by email 

Deputy Chief Executive (only in the 
absence of the Chief Executive or if the 
Chief Executive is the decision taker) 

 

 

Monitoring Officer (only in the absence of 
the Chief Executive and Deputy Chief 
Executive or if one is absent and the 
other is the decision taker) 

 

 

Chief Officer/Head of Service,  Mr. Mark 
Hoyle 

 
 

 
 

Page 22



3 of 3 

7. Date of Decision (when finally approved):   21st March 2022 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
1 

 
LOCAL PLAN MEMBER WORKING GROUP 

 

 
Wednesday, 2nd February, 2022 

 
Present:  Councillor , Councillors Judith Addison, Carole Haythornthwaite, 

Dave Parkins, Michael Hindley and Miles Parkinson OBE 
 

Apologies Loraine Cox, Melissa Fisher, Eamonn Higgins, Paddy Short and Macholc 

  

 
107 Apologies for Absence and Substitutions 

 
Apologies for absence were received from (Chair) Councillor Loraine Cox, Councillors 
Melissa Fisher, Eamonn Higgins, Paddy Short and Michael Hindley.  
Senior Planning Officer Joanne Macholc also submitted her apologies. 
 
Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE acted as substitute for (Chair) Councillor Loraine Cox. 
 

108 Declarations on Interest 
 
There were no declarations of interest 
 

109 Minutes on the Last Meeting 
 
The minutes of the last meeting of the Local Plan Member Working Group held on the 6th 
September 2021 were submitted for approval as a correct record. 
 
Agreed – That the minutes be received and approved as a correct record. 
 

110 Local Plan Timetable Update 
 
Christine Whittle, Principal Planning Officer, updated the group on further progress of 
the timetable. 
 

She reported that the Local Plan was now at the stage of finalising policies and some 
possible mapping alterations. The plan would then be ready to go for a final Regulation 19 
consultation. It was hoped to be in a position to be able to take the final consultation 
document to all Members by late March, to be approved for consultation.  A copy of the 
draft Plan will be sent to all Members beforehand. 
 
Councillor Dave Parkins asked about a recent report of a protected lizard being found on 
the Huncoat power station site and the implications on the developments of the proposed 
housing plans. The Head of Planning and Transportation, Simon Prideaux, affirmed that 
the biodiversity including habitats and species would be incorporated in the consultation 
document. 
 

Councillor Judith Addison questioned Hyndburn Council’s input on the latest Blackburn and 
Darwen Council plans for development at Guide and the impact it may have on 
Oswaldtwistle residents. Simon Prideaux added that HBC was consulted and represented 
on these plans and concerns and objections would be taken into consideration in respect of 
this greenbelt land. However, it was important to enable HBC to meet growth and 
economic development as greenbelt land was ideal for employment sites. 

Page 25

Agenda Item 5.



 
 
 

 

 
2 

 
Discussion amongst Councillors related to the potential companies that could create exciting 
and positive employment growth within Hyndburn.  

 
 

111 Statement on Community Involvement Update 
 
Christine Whittle referred to the public consultation and discussions were held on the 
importance of engaging with all affected residents when presenting the local plan. 
 
Simon Prideaux added that workshops had been successful in the past for gathering 
residents views, although these would need to be heavily promoted. Also Planning officers 
had presented plans at Accrington and Rossendale College, obtaining student’s views. 
 
Councillor Miles Parkinson expressed the importance of the plans reaching the younger 
generation. Members exchanged ideas on platforms to use to present the plan, engaging 
and exciting the younger generation, including social media and short videos with help 
from Senior Communications and Marketing Officer Hannah Saxton. 
 
Councillor Judith Addison wanted consideration for the older residents who preferred 
paper copies and plans to also engage with “hard to reach” groups and Ethnic minorities, 
reaching out to Mosques and other places of worship. 
 
Simon Prideaux pointed out that the Levelling Up plan should work alongside planning 
policies and would be included within plans. 
 

Cllr Parkinson requested that all Members were provided with a copy of the Statement of 
Community Involvement prior to the public consultation in May so that Councillors would be 
aware of what was happening in their wards. 
 
Agreed                                 – That Members are provided with a copy of the Statement 

of Community Involvement prior to the public 
consultation in May 2022. 

 
112 Local Plan Regulation 19 Consultation - Approval to Consult 

 
See previous items 
 

113 Local Plan Public Consultation Strategy 
 
See previous items 
 

 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 26



 

 
1 

 
LEADER'S POLICY DEVELOPMENT BOARD 

 

 
Monday, 28th March, 2022 

 
Present:  Councillors Miles Parkinson OBE (in the Chair), Councillors Peter Britcliffe, 

Paul Cox and Marlene Haworth 
 

Apologies Councillors Joyce Plummer 

  

 
41 Apologies for Absence and Substitutions 

 
An apology for absence was submitted on behalf of Councillor Joyce Plummer.  There were 
no substitutions. 
 

42 Minutes of the Last Meeting held on 16th December 2021 
 
The Minutes of the meeting held on 16th December 2021 were submitted for approval as a 
correct record. 
 
Agreed - That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct 

record. 
 

43 Matters Arising 
 
There were no matters arising from the minutes. 
 

44 Nominations for Freemen/Aldermen 
 
The Leader of the Council referred to nominations for the titles of Honorary Alderman or 
Freeman of the Borough to be made at the Council’s Annual General meeting in May 2022 
and requested that any nominations were submitted within the next two weeks.   
 
The Leader reported that Councillor Bernadette Parkinson had nominated Sarah Barton for 
the title of Honorary Freeman of the Borough for her charitable work and he was nominating 
Andy Holt, Accrington Stanley Football Club, for the title of Honorary Freeman.   
 
Agreed - That the nominations for the title of Honorary Freeman 

or Alderman of the Borough be submitted within two 
weeks. 

 
 
 

45 Recognition of Individuals in the Platinum Jubilee Year 
 
The Leader of the Council explained that, as part of the Queen’s Platinum Jubilee 
celebrations, awards should be presented to individuals nominated from across the 
borough to recognise outstanding service to the community.  He requested that Platinum 
Jubilee Awards were presented at each Council until the end of 2022 and that there should 
be several presentations made at each Council.  Nominations should be forwarded to the 
Member Services Manager.  Presentations should take place in a similar fashion to the 
Ruby Awards presented to mark the Council’s 40th anniversary.  

Public Document Pack

Page 27



 
 
 

 

 
2 

 
Councillor Britcliffe reported that Jubilee Gardens, Oswaldtwistle had been named to reflect 
the Jubilee anniversary and pointed out that in the year of the Queen’s Platinum Jubilee, 
efforts should be made to make sure that the gardens were kept in a good state.  The 
Member Services Manager indicated that he would contact the Head of Parks and 
Cemeteries.   
 
Councillor Britcliffe also proposed that the name of Scaitcliffe House was changed to 
Queen Elizabeth House.  Discussions related to approvals that were required to do this and 
the Director of Legal & Democratic Services indicated that she would look into submitting 
an application, however, it was also suggested that Hyndburn Leisure Trust were increasing 
the number of facilities they would be providing and that one of these could be named in 
this manner.   
 
Agreed (1) That nominations should be forwarded to the Member 

Services Manager for individuals to be awarded the 
Queen’s Platinum Jubilee Award in recognition of 
services to the community and for these Awards to be 
presented at Full Council meetings until the end of the 
year.  

 (2) That the Member Services Manager contacts the Head 
of Parks and Cemeteries in respect of making 
improvements to Jubilee Gardens, Oswaldtwistle; and   

 (3) That the Director of Legal & Democratic Services looks 
into the possibility of applying to change the name of 
Scaitcliffe House to Queen Elizabeth House. 

 
46 Review of the Policy on Paperless Meetings 

 
Consideration was given to reviewing the Council’s policy of paperless meetings.  The 
Leader considered the environmental and financial implications of providing Members with 
paper copies of agendas.  He considered that it would be beneficial for Leaders and Deputy 
Leaders to be provided with paper copies of agendas but did not feel it necessary to extend 
beyond this.  He proposed that two paper copies were placed in each Group Meeting room 
for Members’ to access plus to provide paper copies of the Budget Meeting on request.   
 
Agreed - That two paper copies of agendas were placed in each 

Group Meeting Room and that Members were supplied 
with a copy of the Budget Meeting agendas on request.   

  
 

47 Any Other Business 
 
Submission to Boundary Commission 
 
Following on from a report submitted to Full Council in respect of an update on the 
Parliamentary Boundary Review 2023 which notified Members of the initial proposals from 
the Boundary Commission concerning the Hyndburn constituency and obtaining Council’s 
support for the Commission’s initial recommendations and Councils’ support for the 
proposal for keeping the Hyndburn County Constituency name it was proposed that a letter 
reflecting this be submitted to the Boundary Commission as soon as possible.  The letter 
should be written on behalf of the Mayor (by Ben Caulfield – Overview & Scrutiny Officer) 
and circulated to the Leaders of the Council and Leader of both parties before being sent.  
 

Page 28



 
 
 

 

 
3 

Agreed - That the Overview and Scrutiny Officer (Ben Caulfield) 
drafts a letter on behalf of the Mayor, as soon as 
possible, to the Boundary Commission in respect of the 
recommendations considered by Full Council and 
circulates to the Leader of the Council and Leaders of 
each Party for agreement, before being sent.   

 
Review of Delegated Powers for Planning 
 
In light of a recent Planning Committee, Councillor Haworth requested that Officers’ 
authority to use delegated powers to approve planning applications were reviewed, 
especially in relation to major planning applications.  She requested a review of the process 
involved to include Member approval to reflect greater transparency.  The Leader 
suggested that the Chair of Planning and the Shadow Chair of Planning be consulted 
before delegated powers were used to approve major planning applications.   
 
Reference was also made to clarifying the definition of major planning applications.    
 
The Director of Legal and Democratic Services indicated that changes to delegated powers 
would be submitted for consideration to Full Council’s Annual General meeting and that she 
would include the two issues outlined above.     
 
The Director of Legal and Democratic Services advised on the process for complaining to 
the Ombudsman’s Office. 
 
Agreed (1) That the Director of Legal and Democratic Services 

clarifies the definition of major planning applications; 
and 

 (2) That the Director of Legal and Democratic Services 
submits a report to Full Council’s Annual General 
Meeting to request Members to consider changes to the 
process of using delegated powers to approve planning 
applications (as outlined above), namely that the Chair 
of Planning and the Shadow Chair of Planning be 
consulted before delegated powers are used to approve 
major planning applications. 

 
48 Date and Time of Next Meeting 

 
To be confirmed. 
 

 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 30



 

 
1 

 
REGENERATION AND HOUSING PANEL 

 

 
Monday, 11th April, 2022 

 
Present:  Councillor Loraine Cox (in the Chair), Councillors June Harrison, 

Mohammad Ayub, Joyce Plummer, Dave Parkins and Judith Addison 
 

Apologies Marlene Haworth and Caroline Montague 

  

 
97 Apologies for Absence and Substitutions 

 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillor Montague and Councillor 
Marlene Haworth.   
 
Councillor Addison acted as a substitute for Councillor Haworth. 
 

98 Declarations of Interest 
 
There were no interests declared at the meeting. 
 

99 Minutes of Last Meeting held on 12th December 2021 
 
The minutes of the last meeting of the Regeneration and Housing Panel held on 12th 
December 2021 were submitted for approval as a correct record. 
 
The Head of Regeneration and Housing informed the meeting that a report on Enforced 
Sales would be brought to the next meeting. 
 
Agreed  That the minutes be approved as a correct record. 
 

100 Huncoat Garden Village Update 
 
The Head of Regeneration and Housing provided an update on the Huncoat Garden 
Village.  He pointed out that this was a significant project and a priority within the Corporate 
Strategy.  He advised that an update with progress would be provided at each meeting of 
the Working Group.  
 
He explained that a masterplan had been approved by Cabinet and would be a material 
consideration to any planning application for Huncoat Garden Village.  There were plans for 
1500 new homes with a further 300 new homes proposed for the next plan period.  The 
next key priority was to develop and submit a business case for housing infrastructure 
funding.  To do this the Council would work with Homes England to prepare a submission 
for the Brownfield Land Infrastructure Fund.  Avison Young Consultants had been 
appointed to help the Council prepare the business case.  The funding submission would 
amount to £28.65 m and would include funding for a new stretch of relief road, 
improvements to Junction 8 on the M65 and site abnormal costs such as contaminated 
land.  The submission under preparation to be ready by the end of June 2022.   
 
In respect of progress in planning for the new development he reported that Clowes, former 
owners of the former power station site, had submitted an outline application for 451 new 
homes.   Progress with plans would depend on the approval of funding for highway 

Page 31



 
 
 

 

 
2 

improvements.  However, the masterplan showed that subject to certain highway 
improvements then up to 400 houses could be built without any new infrastructure being 
built. 
 
Members submitted questions relating to the following issues: 
 

- Concern about planning permission being submitted for a number of houses 
exceeding the total set out in the masterplan. 

- What would happen if funding was not made available for a relief road. 
- If there was still an intention to enhance Huncoat Railway Station. 
- The plans state that 400 houses would be permitted without a relief road but what 

would come first the road or houses? 
 
Members were informed that plans would have to go before the Planning Committee but 
400 new homes could be built before the new proposed relief road had to be built.  He also 
informed the Working Group that should funding not be secured for a new relief road, costs 
for the road would have to be met by developers and house builders. Improvement to 
Huncoat Railway Station, considered a priority, would make the Garden Village a more 
attractive place to live and therefore more likely to attract new households to the village. 
 
Agreed  - That the report be noted. 
 

101 Cabinet Report - Lyndon Playing Fields 
 
The Head of Regeneration and Housing submitted a report to inform the Working Group of 
the Cabinet’s decision on the 16th of March 2022 to transfer the remaining land at Lyndon 
Great Harwood to Keepmoat now that the development is nearing its conclusion.  He 
reported that Keepmoat would pay the outstanding amount to the Council of £1.1m.  He 
explained that properties were continuing to sell with some affordable housing using the 
Government’s Help to Buy Scheme and some shared ownership houses. 
 
Agreed  - That the report be noted. 
 

102 Clayton Triangle 
 
The Head of Regeneration and Housing provided the Working Group with a progress report 
on Clayton Triangle.  He explained that there was a lot of public interest in the project and 
that a planning application would be likely to go to Planning Committee in June.  He 
provided the Working Group with a copy of the layout of the development and provided 
details.  He explained that the land consisted of three owners; the Council, the River Trust 
and a private ownership and all 3 sites were similar in size.  He pointed out that planning 
consent for housing had been given in 2011 but there had been no interest in the site until 
now. 
 
He referred to the existing infrastructure, especially access along Whalley Road and 
advised that any changes to this would be unlikely.  He reported that Watson Homes were 
building for Onward Homes and an agreement had been entered into with the 3 landowners 
subject to planning permission and provided details of the housing mix.  The site was only 
viable because grant funding had been obtained by Onward Homes through Homes 
England.  He indicated that concerns relate to the traffic impact along Whalley Road and 
the Environmental impact (air quality).  Air quality readings were raised but had not 
exceeded appropriate levels.  The pollutant of concern was Nitrogen Oxide mainly from 
diesel cars.  Figures had been submitted to DEFRA but the levels were gradually improving 
because there were fewer diesel cars on the road.   
 

Page 32



 
 
 

 

 
3 

Members referred to concerns relating to: 
- Access to the site 
- Increase of traffic on Whalley Road 
- Developers had removed vegetation in preparation of housing before planning 

permission had been given, giving a false impression that the Council had 
already been given the go ahead. 

 
The Head of Regeneration and Housing expressed disappointment that the developers had 
done work on the site before permission had been gained and acknowledged that this 
would have led to some public distrust, however, he reported that there had been no 
environmental laws broken by the developers and explained that Planning had done 
extensive follow up work to ensure no planning breaches had occurred.   
 
Agreed  - That the report be noted. 
 

103 Homes for Ukraine Scheme 
 
The Housing Strategy and Policy Manager submitted a report to inform the Working Group 
about Lancashire’s Homes for Ukraine Scheme including the district council role following 
the Government’s announcement on the 18th of March 2022.   
 
The Head of Regeneration and Housing explained that there had been a lot of national 
publicity about this scheme and referred to the management of it within Lancashire with 
some responsibility being taken by each district council. He reported on the number of 
households volunteering to sponsor Ukrainian families and the financial and administrative 
implications of this.  He pointed out that the mechanism for the provision of homes was not 
clear and was still being worked out.   
 
Agreed                                   - That the Panel welcome Lancashire’s Homes for 

Ukraine Scheme. 
 

104 Grant Awards to Support Homelessness Projects 
 
The Housing Strategy and Policy Manager submitted a report to inform the Panel of the 
Council’s success in securing two grant awards in support of initiatives to: 

a.  Support victims of domestic abuse 
b.  Reduce or prevent rough sleeping 
 

 The Council proposed to make grant awards to support local community interest 
organisations already providing services in both of these areas.  The specific grant awards 
were set out in draft Cabinet reports attached to the report. 
 
The Head of Regeneration and Housing reported that they had received funding of £170k 
over 3 years, for a rough sleeping project and £30k to extend services for victims of 
domestic abuse. 
 
Members referred to the effects on other residents of a community when rough sleepers 
were placed in accommodation and requested that careful consideration was given to 
where rough sleepers were located.  Examples where given to problems that had occurred 
in Huncoat.  Councillor Parkins was advised to contact the County Councillor in respect of 
problems in the Huncoat area.   
 
The Head of Regeneration and Housing reported that the Local Authority had a legal duty 
to rehome rough sleepers were accommodated.  Examples were given to problems that 

Page 33



 
 
 

 

 
4 

had occurred in Huncoat.  Councillor Parkins was advised to contact the County Council in 
respect of problems he raised in the Huncoat area.   
 
The Head of Regeneration and Housing reported that the Local Authority had a legal duty 
to rehouse rough sleepers but acknowledged that the right support was essential and that 
Onward Homes and Stepping Stones worked together in this respect.   
 

Agreed                          (1)   That the Panel noted the report and welcomed the two 
grant awards; and  

                                          (2)     That the Panel’s concerns be fed back to Onward 
Homes, Stepping Stones and Lancashire County 
Council. 

 
105 Urgent Business 

 
 
Serco Scheme 
 
Councillor Addison reported that properties were being converted without planning 
permission and Councillor were not being made aware of it. 
 
The Head of Regeneration and Housing reported that a report had been provided to the 
Panel previously in respect of accommodation for asylum seekers and pointed out that the 
need for accommodation had increased as part of the national challenge to meet the 
housing needs of asylum seekers.  He advised the Panel that the Government contracted 
directly with Serco to provide housing accommodation across the North West and therefore 
the Council’s ability to intervene was limited.  Council did not directly get involved with 
asylum seekers and explained that directions and guidance came from the Government 
with Serco and the Local Government having very little say.  Often two up, two down 
terrace properties were bought up for this purpose and conversion to 4 beds would not 
require planning permission.   
 

106 The Time and Date of Future Meetings: 
 
The next meeting to be confirmed. 
 

 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 34



 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 14 September 2022 

PORTFOLIO: Leader of the Council 

REPORT AUTHOR: Jane Ellis, Executive Director (Legal & 
Democratic Services) 

TITLE OF REPORT: Leisure Transformation Project : consultant 
appointment 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of 
publication: 

 

 
 
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1     To seek approval to appoint Hyndburn Leisure to provide consultancy services 

to the Council in respect of the Leisure Transformation Project and associated 
regeneration / transformation projects 

 
2.  Recommendations  

 
I recommend that Cabinet: 

(a) Agrees to appoint Hyndburn Leisure to provide consultancy services and 
advice to the Council in respect of the Leisure Transformation Project and 
associated projects (such as the UK Shared Prosperity Fund and the 
proposed Arts and Cultural Investment Board) on the terms set out in this 
report; and 

(b)  Agrees to waive the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules in respect of the 
proposed appointment for the reasons set out in the report; and 

(c) Delegates authority to the Executive Director (Legal & Democratic 
Services) to prepare and settle the terms of the deed of appointment of 
Hyndburn Leisure in respect of the above. 

 
 
3. Context and Reasons for Recommendations and context   
 
3.1 The Council has a big workload arising from the various ongoing 

transformation projects and some external consultancy support is needed to 
address in-house gaps in knowledge, experience and / or capacity. 

Page 35

Agenda Item 7.



3.2    The Council has identified a need for additional capacity, advice and support in 
respect of the delivery of the Leisure Transformation Project and also in 
respect of delivery of aspects of the Council’s UK Shared Prosperity Fund 
should the current bid be successful (including, for example, leading the work 
of the proposed Arts and Cultural Investment Board and preparation and 
submission of an associated bid for Arts Council funding). Hyndburn Leisure 
has to date been heavily involved in the preparation and planning of these 
projects and the advice and support provided by the current manager of 
Hyndburn Leisure has been a key success factor. The continuation of this 
support is considered to be important for the future delivery of the Leisure 
Transformation Project in particular and the current proposal has been 
brought forward as a result. 

3.3      It is proposed that the Council will engage Hyndburn Leisure for a three year 
period at a cost of £28,748.00 per annum, with the figure being adjusted 
upwards in years two and three by the local government pay settlement 
percentage and to reflect any actuarial changes to Hyndburn Leisure’s 
pension contribution rate. Hyndburn Leisure will be engaged by contract to 
provide consultancy advice and support in respect of the delivery of the 
Leisure Transformation Project and the arts and cultural aspects of the UK 
Shared Prosperity Fund, with the Council having the ability to terminate the 
arrangement should the current manager of Hyndburn Leisure cease to be the 
lead officer involved in delivery of the services on behalf of Hyndburn Leisure. 

3.4      Hyndburn Leisure will provide advice and support only. Implementation, 
design and financial decisions will remain the responsibility of the Council as 
the owner of the land and buildings concerned, and as the funder for these 
projects. It is therefore anticipated that conflict of interest concerns can be 
avoided. 

 
 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 The Council could seek to appoint a consultant through a procurement 

process. This is not recommended as: 
(i)        it is likely to add delay and would risk a loss of momentum, especially 

with the Leisure Transformation Project; 
(ii)       the proposed fee is viewed as excellent value for money given the time 

commitment envisaged to be required to successfully deliver these 
projects; 

(iii)    Hyndburn Leisure has been heavily involved in the development and 
delivery of the Leisure Transformation Project to date and is uniquely 
placed to assist the Council going forward, especially given its 
knowledge and experience of the operation of the local sports centres. 

 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 The proposal has the support of the Council’s Management Team and has 

been discussed with the Leader and Deputy Leader of the Council as relevant 
portfolio holders. 

 

Page 36



6. Implications 
 

Financial implications 
(including any future financial 
commitments for the Council) 
 

The cost of the appointment will be met 
from within the overall funds allocated to 
these Projects where Hyndburn Leisure 
is supporting the Council.  Additional 
budgetary provision is therefore not 
expected to be required.  

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

A deed of appointment will be entered 
into between the Council and Hyndburn 
Leisure setting out the responsibilities 
and obligations of each party. 

Assessment of risk 
 

The consultancy arrangement relies 
heavily upon the knowledge and skills of 
the current manager of Hyndburn 
Leisure. The Council will be able to 
terminate the consultancy appointment if 
the current manager ceases to be 
available to deliver the proposed 
services. 

Equality and diversity 
implications 
A Customer First Analysis should 
be completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached 
as an appendix to the report.  
 

There are no equality and diversity 
implications arising from this 
appointment 

 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 None.  
 
 

 
 

Page 37

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 16 
 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

 

DATE: 

 

14 September 2022 

PORTFOLIO: 

 

Cllr Miles Parkinson OBE - Leader 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

 

Chief Planning and Transportation Officer 

TITLE OF REPORT: 

 

Hargreaves Warehouse – Fire and Partial Demolition.   

EXEMPT REPORT  

(Local Government 

Act 1972, Schedule 

12A)  

Options Not applicable 

  

KEY DECISION: Options If yes, date of publication:  

 

1. Purpose of Report 

 

1.1 To advise members on the actions taken to make Hargreaves Warehouse safe following the 

recent fire.   

 

2. Recommendations  

 

2.1 That the report be noted.   

 

2.2 That Cabinet agree retrospectively to the waiver of the Contract Procedure Rules on the 

grounds that the need to procure a contractor was urgent and a procurement exercise could 

not have been conducted within the timescales needed.   

 

3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 

 

3.1 Hargreaves Warehouse is a stone built, canal-side warehouse designed on an L-shaped plan 

and is of four storeys plus and attic.  The front and side elevations fronting onto Blackburn 

Road and Bridge Street are faced with course hammer dressed, watershot sandstone, and the 

dressings to the opening are monolithic blocks.  When it was present, the building had a welsh 

slate roof, although originally this is likely to have been a sandstone roof.   

 

3.2 The building lies a short distance to the south west of Accrington Town Centre, in the heart of 

the Church Canalside Conservation Area.  This incorporates the historic core of Church 

together with the canal corridor, including the Aspen Valley area of Oswaldtwistle.  The 

designated area is characterised to a large extent by industrial features dating back to the 

Georgian era, including the Leeds and Liverpool Canal and associated basin and coke ovens.   

Page 39

Agenda Item 8.



Page 2 of 16 
 

 

3.3 Hargreaves warehouse is a Grade II Listed Building.  The listing refers to the building as 

“Canal Warehouse, 49-53 Blackburn Road” and is reference 1072724.  The building was listed 

on 13th September 1976.  The listing is as follows:   

 

 Canal warehouse on Leeds-Liverpool canal, 1836.  Watershot coursed front and side (rubble at 

rear), slate roof.  L shaped plan, 4 storeys; to road, 2 gables with short linking range which 

contains a giant arch with rusticated voussoirs and a 2nd floor window, and each side of this 2 

windows on each floor.  Block on right continues as long wing to rear, with round arched 

openings at ground floor (now windows), 3 windows on each of two floors above, and three 

tiered round arched loading doors in side and gable walls of end bay.  History: built by 

Hargreaves Brothers (calico printers etc) of Broad Oak, Accrington.   

 

 The Condition of the Building 

 

3.4 Grimley’s undertook a condition survey of the building in 2004.  This included photographs of 

the main elevations, internal floors and roof.  Oxford Archaeological North undertook a 

Heritage Appraisal of the building in 2011.  This was not a structural survey although the report 

noted at para 5.2.15 that “the warehouse has been vacant for some time, and has been 

allowed to deteriorate.  As a vacant property, it is considered to be vulnerable.” 

 

3.5 There are photographs of the building taken in 2016.  These indicate that the building had a 

partial roof and the Commercial Hotel (immediately to the east, but subsequently demolished) 

was still present.   

 

 
 

 Fig 2. Aerial photograph taken November 2021 prior to the collapse of the roof to the north-

east section.  Source:  Buttress Architects, Jan 2022.   

 

3.6 On 25th March 2020 there was an accident at the site involving Mr Guy Cornwell, who was 

seriously injured following a fall in the building.  A report was prepared by the Council’s 

Page 40



Page 3 of 16 
 

Building Control Surveyor (PC) that included photofraphs of the site.  Mr Cornwell passed way 

several months after this incident.   

 

3.7 A condition survey of the building was most recently undertaken in January 20221.  The scope 

of the survey was limited by the condition of the building, the report noting at para 2.2.10 that: 

 

“It should be noted that some areas are structurally in a very poor condition, and inspection in 

these locations is limited to safely accessible vantage points.  In a similar manner, to the aerial 

inspection, in some instances the extent of stored materials and/or collapsed fabric obscures 

parts of the fabric in some areas.” 

 

3.8 The 2022 survey report summarizes the condition of the building in eight paragraphs, of which 

the following are relevant: 

 

3.1.1 The building is in very poor condition and deteriorating. 

 

3.1.2 [Not relevant] 

 

3.1.3 It has recently suffered a significant roof collapse and it appears that floors within the 

north-eastern section were lost some time ago, potentially prior to the roof collapse.   

 

3.1.4 Parts of the building are considered unstable and deteriorating, particularly the north-

eastern section.  Loss of lateral stability to the western wall of the north-eastern 

section has led to a signficant distortion in this wall, which is essentially unrestrained.   

 

3.1.5 The majority of the areas of particular concern are located in areas which are not 

accessible to the public and therefore were not considered a threat to public safety at 

the time of the inspection.  The exception to this are the coping stones atop the 

western gable to the Blackburn Road elevation.  These are at risk of falling onto the 

pavement and require urgent remedial action. 

 

3.1.6 The south western section, to the western side of the arched opening, is in poor 

condition.  It is understood that it was re-roofed in 2009 and this appears to have 

prevented the level of decay seen elsewhere.  The interior of this section has been 

partially refurbished, apparently to provide a residential dwelling.   

 

3.1.7 It is noted that these alterations, including the addition of two new windows to the 

rear elevation of this section, appear to have been undertaken without the benefit of 

planning or listed building consent.   

 

                                                      
1
 Condition Survey was carried out by Stephen Anderson of Buttress Architects and David Wiggins of Clach 

Conservation on 14
th
 January 2022.   

Page 41



Page 4 of 16 
 

3.1.8 The quality and nature of stored materials to the rear yard and interior of the south-

western section present a hazard in themselves and will require removal before any 

extensive repairs could commence.   

 

3.9 In Section 4.3, Health and Safety, the report comments as follows: 

 

4.3.1 The building is generally in very poor condition, with areas which are not safely 

accessible.  It is also the case that the condition of the building will continue to 

deteriorate.   

 

4.3.2 This leads to two conclusions.  Firstly that action to stabilise the condition of the 

building is urgent and secondly that over time, the ability to safely and effectively 

undertake any works to the structure will become increasingly limited.   

 

4.3.3 Current health and safety issues include: 

 Unstable floors, particularly to the upper levels of the south-western section 

and to the entirety of the south-eastern and north-eastern sections. 

 Risk of structural collapse, particularly to the north-eastern section.  This 

section is not safe to enter.   

 Structural movement to the masonry shell, partuicularly to the western wall of 

the north-eastern section, overlooking the rear yard.  Whilst not appearing to 

be at immediate risk of collapse, careful monitoring is required and caution 

should be exercised in working in close proximity to this wall. 

 Loose and unstable masonry at high level, including coping stones.  There is 

a risk of falling masonry, particularly from the exposed wall heads of the 

north-eastern range, which are not publicly accessible locations, and to the 

coping stones on the Blackburn Road and Bridge Street elevations of the 

south-western and south-eastern sections. 

 Risks from stored materials internally and externally, including the potential 

for sharop edges, slips and trips and falling of objects stored at high level 

over access routes.   

 Risks from organic sources, including moulds internally, evidence of rodents 

etc.   

4.34 Given the above and the dynamic nature of the situation, careful preparation of risk 

assessments and method statements are required before any activity on site.   

 

3.10 Even before the fire, it is evident that the building had a number of structural and safety issues 

that were known about.   

 

 The Fire 

 

3.11 On 20th August 2022 there was a major fire at the building.  It is reported that the fire was 

attended by six fire engines and in order for fire-fighters to safely manage the incident they 

closed both Blackburn Road and Bridge Street.   

 

Page 42



Page 5 of 16 
 

3.12 A firm of demolition contractors had erected security fencing that effectively blocked the roads 

and provided a safe working area for the Fire Authority.   

 

3.13 When officers of the Council were able to inspect the building on Monday 22nd August 2022, it 

was evident that the fire had caused further significant damage to the building: 

 The roof is no longer present. 

 Floors are no longer present, with the exception of some charred joists / timbers. 

 Serious cracking of the wall on the SE corner on Blackburn Road. 

 Partial collapse of the wall above two windows in the west side of the building. 

 Loose materials on the tops of walls at a high level. 

 Further deterioration of the walls on the north side of the building and bowing out of 

wall. 

 Cracking on west gable end of building on Bridge Street.   

 

The fire, coupled with the collapse of the roof and floors is also likely to have damaged tie bars that 

were put in place to help retain structural integrity.   

 

 
 

 Fig 3.  Aerial image taken 22nd August 2022 following the fire.  Source:  Still from Lancashire 

Fire Authority drone footage.   

 

3.14 Photographs of the building were taken and the fire authority also took drone footage.  The 

floors and roof of a building give considerable structural support to a building this size, and the 

loss of both the floors and the roof would have further compromised the structural integrity of 

the building.  Together with clear signs of cracking, collapsed lintels on the top floor and heat 

damage to tie-rods (that had been put in to lend stability), the Councils Building Control 

Surveyor, Engineer and Chief Planning Officer were all highly concerned about the structural 

integrity of the building and (in turn) its immediate safety.   

 

3.15 Photographs are appended to this report.   

 

Page 43



Page 6 of 16 
 

 Critical Incident Team 

 

3.16 The Council’s Chief Executive Officer established a critical incident team that comprised senior 

officers of the Council, Councillors and the Member of Parliament for Hyndburn.  The group 

met on four occassions, twice on 22nd August and also on 23rd August and on 24th August 

when the critical incident was closed.   

 

3.17 In the light of discussions that took place during the second critical incident meeting on Monday 

22nd August, verbal legal advice was sought from a Barrister in relation to a number of matters 

relating to the on-going incident.  The briefing with the Barrister was attended by senior Council 

officers.   

 

 Road Closures 

 

3.18 In order to safetly manage the fire, the Fire Authority closed Bridge Street and Blackburn Road.  

There are a number of major companies located down Bridge Street, and Bridge Street is the 

only access available for those companies to use.  These companies include Blythes 

Chemicals, McMurrays Haulage and Walker Steel.  Considerable concern was expressed by 

these companies about the impact of the road closure on their business and there was a strong 

wishto see the road re-opened as soon as possible.   

 

 Blythes Consultation Zone 

 

3.19 Hargreaves Warehouse is within the HSE Consultation Zone associated with Blythes 

Chemicals.  The practical effect of the consultation zone is to constrain development within the 

zone because of the societal risk presented by the chemicals hanfdled by Blythes.  The 

presence of the consultation zone has effected blighted the building by preventing it being 

brought into a viable use, such as apartments or offices.   

 

 The works needed to make the building safe 

 

3.20 In order for the road to be re-opened it was first necessary to make the building safe so that it 

would not present a risk to road users.  On the morning of Monday 22nd August 2022 the 

Council employed an independent structural surveyor (MPA) to assess the building and make 

recommendations on what was needed to make it safe.  MPA initially advised that the building 

was unsafe and that work was immediately required at a high level to stabilise loose material / 

copings and that an internal scaffold was required to stabilise the building.  Verbal advise from 

MPA was that this should be seen as part of a “continuous” scheme to make the building safe, 

not a two separate pieces of work.  

 

3.21 MPA visited the site at 10.30am on 22nd August and as well as doing a visual inspection from 

Blackburn Road and Bridge Street he also examined Fire Authority drone footage and 

undertook a high level inspection using the Fire Authority high level platform.   

 

Page 44



Page 7 of 16 
 

3.22 Council officers discussed the scope and extent of these works with the contractors on site, 

and whilst they agreed that they could manage the higher level works, they were not prepared 

to send people into the building due to their concerns over its safety.  It should be noted that 

the survey undertaken in January 2022 also stated that there were “areas which are not safely 

accessible” and that there were areas at risk of structural collapse.   

 

3.23 The erection of scaffolding within the building would have required the removal of large 

quantities of material from the base of the walls and floor to enable the scaffold to be erected.  

Although there was considerable material already present, there was further material from the 

fire that would have had to have been removed.  This work would have required a scaffold to 

be designed and safely built, during which time the building walls would remain un-supported.  

It would also be necessary to keep a stretch of Blackburn Road closed during this time to allow 

contractors vehicles, skips and equipment to be safely managed.  It would also have meant 

contractors working in a building that was considered to be dangerous and, in places, at risk of 

collapse.   

 

3.24 The Council’s Engineer therefore designed a scheme that would reduce the level of the walls 

to a safe level.  Based on the thickness of the walls, the safe height for the walls was 

considered to be the third floor sill level.   

 

3.25 Lancashire Fire Authority handed over control of the building and site to the Council on 

Tuesday 23rd August 2022 at about mid-day.   

 

3.26 The Council instructed the demolition contractors on site to undertake the works to make the 

building safe.  The contractors provided risk assessments and a safe method of working to the 

Council.  The Council’s Principle Engineer was satisfied that the relevant CDM requirements 

had been satisfied.   

 

3.27 The contractors started work shortly after 7pm on 23rd August, the works had been 

substantially completed by 1.30am on 24th August at which time the roads were re-opened to 

traffic.  The site was visited later that morning by the Council’s Engineer and MPA.  Some 

further works were recommended to make the building safe including:  

1) Surfacing the tops of the exposed walls to prevent debris from falling onto the 

pavement below; 

2) Blocking in doors and windows to prevent unauthorised access to the site, and; 

3) Fencing the stretch along Bridge Street, also to prevent long-term access.   

The first two of these jobs were completed on 25th August 2022.   

 

3.28 The Council’s consultant structural engineer (MPA) met with the Council’s Engineer after the 

works had been undertaken and was satisfied the building had been made safe.   

 

3.29 The cost of the works was approximately £35,000.  For contracts of between £10,000 and 

£75,000 three written quotations are normally required.  In this instance it would not have been 

practicable or expedient to obtain three written quotations for the works and retrospective 

approval is sought to the waiver of the Contract Procedure Rules in this instance.   

Page 45



Page 8 of 16 
 

3.30 In this instance there was already a contractor on site who had the appropriate equipment and 

already understood the condition of the building.  Whilst the partial demolition could have been 

undertaken by a variety of companies, the imperative to undertake the works as soon as 

practically possible owing to the condition of the building and the need to open the highway, 

meant that no reasonably satisfactory alternative contractor could have been appointed.   

 

 Emergency works needed to make a listed building safe 

 

3.31 Emergency works can be carried out to a listed building without prior consent in the following 

circumstances: 

i. That the works are urgently necessary in the interests of safety or health or for the 

preservation of the building; 

ii. It was not practical to secure public safety or health or preserve the building by 

works of repair or temporary support or shelter; 

iii. That the work was limited to the minimum measures immediately necessary.   

 

3.32 It is considered that the works undertaken satisfy these requirements.   

 

 Conclusion 

 

3.33 Hargreaves warehouse was a four storey building constructed almost 200 years ago.  

Following the Fire on 20th August 2022 Council officers believed that the building was 

immediately dangerous and urgent works were needed to make the building safe.   

 

3.34 Although the consultant structural engineer initially recommended works to the top of the walls 

and an internal scaffold, this was not considered a practicable option to pursue because of the 

condition of the building.  The contractors on site refused to send operatives into the building 

and the scaffolding option would have extended the period when there would have been high, 

unsupported walls fronting a public highway and would have necessitated prolonged closure of 

the public highway.   

 

3.35 The survey of the building undertaken in January 2022 confirmed that, at that time (even 

before the fire), parts of the building were unsafe to enter and that there was a risk of collapse 

in areas.   

 

3.36 The decision was therefore taken to reduce the height of the walls to a safe level and to seal 

up opening and secure the building to prevent unauthorised entry.  Given the findings of the 

January 2022 survey it is considered that the lowering of the walls was the only reasonable, 

safe and practicable way of making the building safe.   

 

 

 

4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 

 

Page 46



Page 9 of 16 
 

4.1 Initially the option of scaffolding the building from the inside was considered, however, this was 

discounted in favour of a reduction in height of the building walls for the following reasons: 

i. The contractors were not prepared to undertake this work because of fears over the 

safety of the building;  

ii. Scaffolding works would have resulted in the long term closure of part of Blackburn 

Road to accommodate contractors plant and equipment, and; 

iii. The development of a scaffolding plan, clearance of the material within the building 

to allow the scaffolding to take place, and the time taken to erect the scaffolding 

would have left high stone walls of the building un-supported for an in-determinant 

period of time, increasing the risk of uncontrolled collapse and placing people at risk.  

 

5. Consultations 

 

5.1 The Council consulted structural engineer Michael Pooler Associates and advice was provided.   

 

6. Implications 

 

Financial implications (including any 

future financial commitments for the 

Council) 

The cost of the works is approximately £35,000. 

Legal and human rights implications 

 

The works undertaken are considered to be the 

minimum required to make the listed building 

safe.  

Assessment of risk 

 

The works undertaken have removed the long 

term risk to the public arising from the dangerous 

structure.   

Equality and diversity implications 

A Customer First Analysis should be 

completed in relation to policy decisions 

and should be attached as an appendix 

to the report.  

 

None. 

 

 

7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  

 

7.1 Copies of documents included in this list must be open to inspection and, in the case of reports 

to Cabinet, must be published on the website.  

 

 

If the report is public, insert the following paragraph. If the report is exempt, contact Member 

Services for advice. 

 

Page 47

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


Page 10 of 16 
 

8. Freedom of Information 

 

8.1 The report does not contain exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, 

Schedule 12A and all information can be disclosed under the Freedom of Information Act 2000. 

 

 

 
  

Page 48



Page 11 of 16 
 

Appendix 1 Front Elevation on Blackburn Road (22.08.22) 
 

                      
a.  East side of front elevation     b.  West side of front elevation 
 

                        
c.  Cracking on top front east corner    d.  Front elevation from side  
 

Page 49



Page 12 of 16 
 

 
 e.  Front elevation facing onto Blackburn Road 
 

                  
f.  Central and west portion of front elevation 
 
  

Page 50



Page 13 of 16 
 

Appendix 2 East Elevation (22.08.2022) 
 

                 
a.  Western elevation from Blackburn Road  b.  Cracking down eastern elevation 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 51



Page 14 of 16 
 

Appendix 3 West Elevation on Bridge Street 

                        
a.  From Blackburn Road    b.  From Bridge Street 
 

                       
c.  Detail of vertical cracking in west elevation  d.  North west from Bridge Street 
 
 

Page 52



Page 15 of 16 
 

 
 e.  Rear of building from Bridge Street.   
 

 
f.  Rear of building from Bridge Street 
 
 
  

Page 53



Page 16 of 16 
 

Appendix 4 Stills from Drone footage 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 54



Page 1 of 5 
 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 14 September 2022 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Steven Smithson - Environmental Services 

REPORT AUTHOR: Craig Haraben (Deputy Head of Environmental 
Services) 

TITLE OF REPORT: Subsidised Pest Control Treatments 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

  

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To seek the views of cabinet on a proposal to reduce the subsidy on pest control 

treatments for rodents relating to domestic properties. 
 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 That Cabinet note the report. 
 
2.2 That Cabinet agree to reduce the subsidy to pest control treatments for rodents relating 

to domestic properties through a £30 appointment fee. 
 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 The Council’s pest control service comprises of a working manager and 2 pest control 

officers who undertake work for both domestic and commercial customers. 
 
3.2 For commercial pest control work, the Council does not provide any subsidy. For 

domestic work the Council has reduced the subsidy for all pest control treatments 
except for rodents 

 
3.3  Councillors have for some time received complaints from residents that the average 

waiting time is too long for a rodent treatment. The general feedback is that residents 
would prefer a shorter time period from booking an appointment to officers undertaking 
the visit. 

 

Page 55

Agenda Item 9.



Page 2 of 5 
 

3.4 When examining some of the reasons for such a long waiting list, statistics from the 
pest control team show that 40% of pest control appointments for rodents booked with 
the Council result in no pest control work being undertaken. This can be for a variety of 
reasons such as no access (i.e. no one at home), advice only (whereby residents have 
already paid for a private contractor to undertake pest control work and they have kept 
their appointment just to seek confirmation from Council officers on the contractors 
work) or extremely short notice cancellations which give pest control officers no time to 
reschedule appointments.    

 
3.5 To try and reduce the number of no access appointments the Council did introduce a 

retrospective charge of £25 for missing appointments. This meant that should you book 
another appointment within 6 months of the missed appointment a £25 charge is levied 
prior to booking a new appointment. Unfortunately this has had very little effect on the 
number of missed appointments as people wait until the charge has dropped off and 
then book again.   

 
Rented Accommodation 
 
3.6 Concern has been raised by Members that should the subsidy for rodent treatments be 

reduced, those people living in the rented sector would be unduly affected. There is a 
significant amount of legislation (e.g. The Homes (fit for human habitation) Act 2018, 
The Housing Act 2004, the Landlord and Tenant Act 1985, The Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 and The Prevention of Damage by Pest Act 1949) which requires 
landlords to provide properties which are free from vermin. Residents living in rented 
accommodation will be advised to contact their landlord in the first instance should they 
have a pest control problem. 

 
3.7 The Council’s environmental health team can take action against landlords who do not 

deal with poor quality housing which leads to rodent infestations.  
 
3.8 In addition, there are landlords whom have properties in both Hyndburn and other 

Boroughs within Lancashire where undertaking rodent treatments in their properties is 
chargeable. These landlords do pay for pest control services in their properties on 
behalf of their tenants.   

        
Across Lancashire 
 
3.9 There are 12 District Council’s within Lancashire and ten provide a variety of 

subsidised and non-subsidised pest control services. 
 
3.10  Excluding Hyndburn, six District Councils have no subsidy for rodent treatments and 

three District Council’s do subsidise. 
 
3.11 District Councils who do not or have reduce the subsidy for rodent treatments have an 

average waiting time of between 2 and 5 days from booking to an officer undertaking 
the visit. District Councils who do subsidise rodent treatments have waiting times 
between 2 and 8 weeks. The waiting time in Hyndburn is currently 5 weeks and as 
such means the current policy is not providing an effective service for residents. 

 

Page 56



Page 3 of 5 
 

Recommendation 
 
3.12 In order to shorten the time frame for a rodent treatment to an average 2 to 5 days i.e. 

from booking a pest control appointment to an officer undertaking the visit, it is 
recommended that the subsidy  is reduced (rather than removed) via a new  £30 
appointment fee .   

 
3.13 Each rodent treatment will consist of an initial visit and up to a maximum three follow 

up visits to ensure the treatment is a success. This equates to £7.50 per officer visit.  
 
3.14 The average fee for a rodent treatment by Lancashire authorities is £48.62, which is 

over 50% higher than what is being recommended.  
 
3.15 The implementation date for this proposed new way of working is 1 November 2022. 

There will be a few weeks before this date where new appointments cannot be taken 
necessary to clear the current back log. 

 
3.16 The situation relating to pest control waiting lists will be monitored over the next 12 

months and the results reported back to Cabinet Members. 
 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 Keep the current level of subsidy in place; this has been rejected as the current waiting 

time for an appointment will remain the same. 
 
4.2 Remove all the subsidy for rodent treatments; this has been rejected to ensure 

treatment for rodents remains affordable to residents of the Borough. 
 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 Portfolio Holder, Cabinet Members and Pest Control Officers have been consulted in 

the formulation of this report. 
 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

The Council will realise additional income 
from this change in policy, which is 
estimated at approximately £5,000 per 
annum. This will not be realised in the first 
year due to predicted costs incurred dealing 
with the backlog. 
 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

The Council is subject to the public sector 
equality duty introduced by the Equality Act 
2010. When making decision in respect of 
the recommendations in this report Cabinet 
must have regard for the need to:  
 

Page 57



Page 4 of 5 
 

(i) Eliminate unlawful discrimination 
harassment and victimisation; and 

(ii) Advance equality of opportunity 
between those who share a 
relevant protected characteristic 
and those who don’t; and  

(iii) Foster good relations between 
those who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and those 
who don’t 
  

For these purposes the relevant protected 
characteristics are: age, disability, gender 
reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sex and sexual 
orientation. To assist the Cabinet in this 
regard a Customer First Analysis has been 
carried out as part of the review process 
and is attached to this report. Cabinet is 
advised to consider the Customer First 
Analysis and its obligations in respect of the 
public sector equality duty when making a 
decision in respect of the recommendations 
contained in this report.  

The Council is able to charge a fee for this 
service with a view to recovering all or some 
of the costs it incurs in providing the 
services in question.   
  

Assessment of risk 
 

It is anticipated that calls to the Council’s 
contact centre booking appointments will on 
average take longer per call due to the need 
to take a payment, however it is anticipated 
that the volume of calls will reduce overall. 
  

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

See attached Customer First Analysis 

 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 There are no background papers to this report  
 

Page 58

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


Page 5 of 5 
 

8. Freedom of Information 
 
8.1 The report does not contain exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, 
 Schedule 12A and all information can be disclosed under the Freedom of Information 
 Act 2000. 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



 UNCLASSIFIED  
 

1 of 3 

 

 

Hyndburn Borough Council 
 
 Customer First Analysis 
 

 
What is it for? 
 
Our corporate values include putting the customer first, providing opportunities for bright futures and 
narrowing inequality across the Borough. 
 
From 1 April 2011, a new legal duty applies to all public authorities.  It covers these protected 
characteristics: 
 

 age; 

 disability; 

 gender reassignment; 

 pregnancy and maternity; 

 race; 

 religion or belief; 

 gender; 

 sexual orientation; and, for some aspects, 

 marriage and civil partnerships. 
 
The duty means that – as previously - we should analyse the effect of existing and new policies and 
practices on equality.  It does not specify how we should do this.  However, legal cases on the 
meaning of the previous general equality duties make it clear that we must carry out the analysis 
before making the relevant policy decision, and include consideration as to whether we can reduce 
any detrimental impact.   
 
The framework overleaf – our Customer First Analysis - is suggested when making a written record of 
the analysis.  This replaces Equality Impact Assessments. 
 
The Analysis should be proportionate to the policy decision being taken.  In some cases the written 
record will be a quick set of bullet points or notes under each heading, to deal with any questions 
which are relevant (or briefly explain why if they aren’t).  Others will need to be much more detailed.  A 
meaningful Analysis will help the Council make the best decision or formulate a policy which best 
meets our customers’ needs. 
 
Please return completed Customer First Analyses to Human Resources.  I can guide you through the 
process if this would be helpful. 
 
If you have any suggestions for improving this process, please let me know. 
 
 
 
Kirsten Burnett 
Head of HR 

Page 61



 UNCLASSIFIED  
 

2 of 3 

Customer First Analysis 
 

1. Purpose 
 

 What are you trying to achieve with the policy / service / function? 

 To reduce appointment waiting times for residents to access an affordable pest control service 

 Who defines and manages it? 

 Hyndburn BC provides the pest control service 

 Who do you intend to benefit from it and how? 

 All residents of the Borough who need to access an affordable pest control service  

 What could prevent people from getting the most out of the policy / service / function? 

 By having long waiting times for a pest control appointment  

 How will you get your customers involved in the analysis and how will you tell people about it? 

 People have feed back to the Council that they are concerned by the long waiting times from 
booking an appointment to scheduling an appointment 

 
2. Evidence 
 

 How will you know if the policy delivers its intended outcome / benefits? 

 That pest control appointment waiting times have been reduced to the average time for a 
Lancashire district 

 How satisfied are your customers and how do you know? 

 If the new policy works then customer complaints about appointment waiting times will reduce 

 What existing data do you have on the people that use the service and the wider population? 

 The Council has data about how many pest control jobs it undertakes each year, what they are 
for and what the what the timescale is from booking an appointment to having an appointment 

 What other information would it be useful to have?  How could you get this? 

 How many people who book pest control appointments live in rented accomodation 

 Are you breaking down data by equality groups where relevant (such as by gender, age, 
disability, ethnicity, sexual orientation, marital status, religion and belief, pregnancy and 
maternity)? 

 No not at this time 

 Are you using partners, stakeholders, and councillors to get information and feedback? 

 The majority of feedback which pointed out the problems long waiting times for a pest 
appointment was causing came from ward Cllrs, cabinet members, complaints made directly to 
the Council and first hand from pest control staff.   

 
3. Impact 
 

 Are some people benefiting more – or less - than others?  If so, why might this be? 
Those who use the service will benefit more than those who pay for a more expensive provider 
to undertake pest control work  

 
4. Actions 
 

 If the evidence suggests that the policy / service / function benefits a particular group – or 
disadvantages another - is there a justifiable reason for this and if so, what is it? 

 There is no evidence of this 

 Is it discriminatory in any way? 

 There is no evidence of this 

Page 62



 UNCLASSIFIED  
 

3 of 3 

 Is there a possible impact in relationships or perceptions between different parts of the 
community? 

 As affordable pest control work and better waiting times will be available to all residents of 
Hyndburn this is unlikely  

 What measures can you put in place to reduce disadvantages? 

 Continue to offer this service to all residents of the Borough 

 Do you need to consult further? 

 Should this new policy not reduce waiting times for a pest control appointments further 
consultation will be necessary 

 Have you identified any potential improvements to customer service? 

 A more efficient and responsive service to Borough residents  

 Who should you tell about the outcomes of this analysis? 

 Cabinet 

 Have you built the actions into your Business Plan with a clear timescale? 

 Yes necessary actions have been built into the pest control business plan with clear timescales 
set out in the cabinet report 

 When will this assessment need to be repeated? 

 If there are any significant changes to service provision 
 

Name: Craig Haraben    Signed:  
 
Service Area: Environmental Services  Dated: 25 August 2022 

 
If applicable, please attach copy of – or website link to - the cabinet report for reference. 

 
 

Don’t forget to return your written record to HR. 
 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 14 September 2022 

PORTFOLIO: Councillor Stephen Smithson, Environmental 
Services 

REPORT AUTHOR: Jane Ellis, Executive Director (Legal & 
Democratic Services) 

TITLE OF REPORT: Creation of Net Zero Working Group 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of 
publication: 

 

 
 
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1    To propose the creation of a Net Zero Working Group to support the work of 

Cabinet in addressing the climate change. 
 
2.  Recommendations  

 
I recommend that Cabinet approves the creation of the Net Zero Working 
Group on the terms attached in the Schedule to this report and with the 
membership set out in paragraph 3.2 of this report. 

 
3. Context and Reasons for Recommendations and context   
 
3.1 The Council has declared a climate change emergency and is working to 

become carbon neutral. The Cabinet is also actively promoting a green 
agenda to address the threats posed by climate change. To support the work 
of the Cabinet in this regard it is proposed that a Net Zero Working Group is 
created which will report to Cabinet, offering advice and recommendations on 
“green” issues. Proposed terms of reference for the new Working Group are 
attached to this report at Schedule 1. 

3.2     It is proposed that the following councillors are appointed to the new Working 
Group: 

Councillor Zak Khan 
Councillor Caroline Montague 
Councillor Josh Allen. 

Page 65

Agenda Item 10.



 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 Cabinet may chose not to support this proposal or may wish to revise the 

Working Group’s proposed terms of reference or membership. 
 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 None. 
 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications 
(including any future financial 
commitments for the Council) 
 

None 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

None – the Working Group will be 
advisory and will not have decision-
making capacity. 

Assessment of risk 
 

None identified. 

Equality and diversity 
implications 
A Customer First Analysis should 
be completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached 
as an appendix to the report.  
 

There are no equality and diversity 
implications arising from this report. 
 
 

 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 None.  
 
  

Page 66

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


Schedule 1 
 
 

NET ZERO WORKING GROUP 

 

REPORTS TO:       Leader and Cabinet 

 

MEMBERSHIP:     3 councillors 

 

MAIN TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 To provide advice and support to the Cabinet in addressing climate change and 
promoting a green agenda. 

 

DETAILED TERMS OF REFERENCE: 

 To consider strategies and policies to address climate change 

 To be a consultation mechanism for the Council’s  initiatives to address climate 
change and contribute to environmental improvements 

 To monitor the progress of climate change and environmental improvement projects 
and make recommendations for possible new environmental initiatives 

 To report to Cabinet on the above and any recommendations arising 

 
 

 
 

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 14 September 2022 

PORTFOLIO: Councillor Joyce Plummer, Resources 

REPORT AUTHOR: Jane Ellis, Executive Director (Legal & 
Democratic Services) 

TITLE OF REPORT: Elections Act 2022: Update 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of 
publication: 

 

 
 
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1    To advise members of the upcoming changes to elections as a result of the 

Elections Act 2022 
 
2.  Recommendations  

 
I recommend that Cabinet notes this report. 

 
3. Context and Reasons for Recommendations and context   
 
3.1 The Elections Act 2022 seeks to make a number of changes to the elections 

process at local, Parliamentary and PCC elections. The Act is intended to 
reduce the risk of election fraud, whilst make the voting process more 
accessible, both physically and through greater use of digital technology. The 
main changes are summarised below: 

3.2      Voter ID Requirement 

Voters will be required to produce an approved form of photographic ID at the 
polling station before they can be issued with a ballot paper. The Council must 
provide either a permanent or an interim Voter Card (a photographic ID 
document) free of charge to voters who do not have one of the approved 
forms of photographic ID, such as a passport or driving licence.  

We will be required to deal with voter enquiries, determine voter card 
applications and then print and issue the same. The Government are currently 
indicating that the voter cards will have an A4 paper format with “inherent 

Page 69

Agenda Item 11.



security features”. Producing the cards will require sufficient trained staff and 
the necessary (but currently unspecified) equipment / technology. 

Applications for a voter card may be submitted up to 6 working days before 
polling day. Anyone whose ID is no longer available on polling day (e.g. lost or 
stolen) can apply for an emergency proxy up to 5.00pm on polling day. 

Its is currently suggested that the voter ID requirement will be brought into 
force from January 2023. 

3.3      Three Yearly Postal Vote Refresh 

The maximum “life” of a postal vote will be limited to 3 years and thereafter 
voters will have to submit a fresh application. It is anticipated that we will be 
asked to write to all existing postal voted holders to advise them of the change 
and will also have to issue reminders to voters on an ongoing basis when their 
postal vote is about to expire. The reapplication and reminder process will be 
an additional administrative requirement, especially as we have approx. 
11,500 postal vote holders currently. 

The implementation date for this new requirement is currently unknown. 

3.4      Accessibility 

We will be required to improve support in polling stations for people with a 
wide range of disabilities and will be subject to an obligation to provide 
equipment to support disabled people to vote. 

We don’t have full details of the new obligation, but the objective is clearly 
laudable. However, there may be cost implications if all polling stations are 
required to have disabled access. A small number of ours currently do not, 
including those based in porta cabins. There will be increased costs and 
possible logistical difficulties of providing suitable ramps for the same, given 
the size of wheelchair accessible ramps. 

The implementation date for this new requirement is currently unknown. 

3.5      End Of Supplementary Voting 

The count at PCC elections will move to the “first past the post” system which 
will reduce the length and complexity of such counts. 

3.6      Political Campaigners Banned From Handling Postal Votes 

Political campaigners will be banned from handling postal ballot papers 
(unless they are a family member or carer of the voter concerned) and a new 
criminal offence will be created. 

We take steps to make candidates and political parties aware of the new rules 
which create the potential for an increase in complaints and allegations of 
malpractice in the pre-election period. 

It is currently thought that these rules will be introduced in Autumn 2023. 

3.7      Limit On Handing In Postal Votes 

There will be a limit (still to be set) on the number of postal votes a person 
(including candidates and party workers) can hand deliver to the Council. 
When a person hands in postal votes they will be required to fill in a form, 
giving their name and address and the number of electors whose postal votes 

Page 70



they are delivering to us. If this information is not provided the postal votes will 
be rejected. If a person insists on handing in more than the permitted number 
all the postal votes will be rejected. We then have to notify all those voters 
whose votes have been rejected. 

We will take steps to make candidates and political parties aware of the new 
rules. Elections staff will be required to keep a running tally of the number of 
postal votes each person hand delivers to the Council in the pre-election 
period to ensure that the threshold is not exceeded. 

It is currently thought that these rules will be introduced in Autumn 2023. 

3.8      Limit on proxy’s 

People will only be able to act as a proxy for 4 voters (including overseas and 
service electors), and so in most cases the limit will be 2. Although not legally 
required to do so, it is likely that elections staff will  monitor proxy 
appointments to ensure that the limit is not exceeded and we will take steps to 
raise awareness with candidates and the political parties. 

3.9     Online absent vote applications 

Although paper applications will still be possible, people will be able to apply 
online for postal and proxy votes and there will be a new online process for 
verifying the identity of applicants. Details of the new arrangements are 
currently unknown. 

3.10    Overseas electors 

The 15 year limit on expatriates right to vote in Parliamentary elections will be 
removed and ex-pats will be able to register in respect of their last UK 
address. We will be required to verify such applications, including the claimed 
connection to a previous UK address 

 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 Not applicable, as the Council is required to comply with legislation. 
 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 None, but Corporate Management Team have been made aware of the 

requirements of the legislation and the possible operational and financial 
impact for the Council. 

 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications 
(including any future financial 
commitments for the Council) 
 

Currently unknown, as set out in 
paragraph 3 of the report.  

It is likely that the Council will receive 
New Burdens funding in respect of the 
costs of implementing the new 
legislation, for example in respect of the 
purchase of equipment, software 

Page 71



updates, temporary additional staffing 
etc. 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

These are outlined in paragraph 3 of the 
report. The Government will have 
assessed the human rights implications 
of the new legislation as part of the 
legislative process. 

Assessment of risk 
 

There are a number of risks associated 
with implementation of the legislation. 

Firstly, the changes are likely to have 
cost implications, but we have yet to 
receive details of the additional funding 
to be provided to support 
implementation. 

Secondly, we only have an outline of the 
new requirements. The legislation 
envisages that the Act will be 
supplemented by regulations and 
guidance, but these have not yet been 
published which limits our ability to plan 
fully for implementation at this stage. 
 
Thirdly, although there will presumably 
be a national media campaign to raise 
public awareness in respect of voter ID 
requirements, but this will need to be 
supplemented by local activity. In the 
first year at least I expect that we will 
see a significant increase in customer 
enquiries in the pre-election period, 
which will place additional demands on 
the contact centre, elections team and 
our polling station teams. 
 
Officers will keep risks under review as 
more becomes known about the 
timetable for implementation of the new 
rules and as the details of the 
implementation process emerge. 

Equality and diversity 
implications 
A Customer First Analysis should 
be completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached 
as an appendix to the report.  
 

There are no equality and diversity 
implications arising from this report. 
 
The new obligations to assist disabled 
voters and to promote the accessibility 
of polling stations will have equality 
benefits for voters. 

 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

Page 72

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 None.  
 
 

 
 

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3. Minutes of Cabinet
	Minutes

	4. Urgent Decisions Taken
	Cabinet Report Waive Standing Orders
	Cab urgent power landowner engagement and collaboration 9 Mar 22

	5. Minutes of Boards, Panel and Working Groups
	Minutes Public Pack, 28/03/2022 Leader's Policy Development Board
	Minutes

	110422m

	7. Leisure Transformation Project: Consultant Appointment
	8. Hargreaves Warehouse - Fire and Partial Demolition
	9. Subsidised Pest Control Treatments
	Pest Control - Customer First Analysis

	10. Creation of Net Zero Working Group
	11. Elections Act 2022: Update

